NO. 45607-9-II

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

GEORGE THOMAS STRANGE,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

John A. Hays, No. 16654 Attorney for Appellant

1402 Broadway Suite 103 Longview, WA 98632 (360) 423-3084

ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR

Assignment of Error

- 1. The statements of 18 prospective jurors in front of the entire venire outlining their personal experiences as the victims or the family members of the victims of child molestation tainted the remainder of the venire sufficiently to deny the defendant a fair and impartial jury under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 21, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment.
- 2. Trial counsel's failure to object when the state played a recorded interview in which the interrogating officer repeatedly told the defendant that he was lying and that neither the officer nor a jury would ever believe the defendant denied the defendant his right to a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1. § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment.
- 3. The trial court's failure to give a *Petrich* instruction after the state introduced two separate and distinct incidents of sexual contact denied the defendant his right to a unanimous jury under Washington Constitution, Article 1. § 21, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment.

Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

- 1. In a jury trial on a charge of child molestation, do the statements of numerous prospective jurors in front of an entire venire outlining their personal experiences as the victims or the family members of the victims of child molestation taint the remainder of the venire sufficiently to deny the defendant a fair and impartial jury under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 21, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment?
- 2. Does a trial counsel's failure to object when the state plays a recorded interview in which the interrogating officer repeatedly tells the defendant that he is lying and that neither the officer nor a jury would ever believe him deny that defendant the right to a fair trial under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 3, and United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment?
- 3. Does a trial court's failure to give a *Petrich* instruction after the state introduces two separate and distinct incidents of sexual contact deny that defendant the right to a unanimous jury under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 21, and United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment when the jury might have accepted or rejected either one of the instances as proven?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Factual History

In 2009 the defendant George Thomas Strange married Melissa Mullins and they later moved into the defendant's house in Kelso along with Melissa's children JM and AM. RP 274-276¹. At the time JM was 9-years-old and AM was 3-years-old. RP 277-279. Later Melissa's oldest son CM moved in with them also. *Id.* Each one of the children had their own room in the house. *Id.* During this period of time Melissa was unemployed but spent a lot of time out of the house doing volunteer work with Habitat for Humanity through Americorps. RP 274-276. She later purchased and ran a small restaurant called "the Brits," where JM worked part time, along with one of Melissa's employees by the name of Jonathan Layman. RP 281-283.

According to JM, one evening when she was around 12-years-old the defendant came into her bedroom while she was laying on her back on her bed wearing a tank top and shorts. RP 225-227. At the time her mother was out of the house and her brothers were in their bedrooms. *Id.* When the defendant came in to tuck her into bed for the night he asked if he could show her how to perform a breast self-exam. *Id.* When he did he mentioned the

¹The record on appeal includes three continuously numbered volumes of verbatim reports of proceedings of the jury trial and sentencing hearing in this case. They are referred to herein as "RP [page #]."

word cancer. *Id.* In fact the defendant had attended one quarter at nursing school. RP 316-318. JM later reported that after stating this he pulled up her top and showed her how to do the exam, explaining that you were trying to feel for lumps. RP 225-229. He was pushing hard enough to "feel the inside" but it didn't hurt. RP 227-229. He did not touch her nipples and did not rub her breasts with his open hand. RP 227-229, 251-254. He then told her to not tell her mother what he had done because she would get mad. *Id.*

On another occasion JM remembered the defendant coming into her bedroom when she was asleep, pulling out her pants and underwear at the waist and looking down at her vaginal area. RP 231-234. JM also reported that the defendant would occasionally give her back rubs. RP 241-242. On one of these occasions he rubbed her butt. *Id.* He would also give her hugs, kiss her on the cheek, and sometimes kiss her on the lips, which she did not like. RP 235, 238-239.

Eventually JM told one of her friends at school what was happening. RP 321-326. She also told Jonathan one evening when they were working together. RP 244-247, 327-338. When Jonathan asked whether or not she had told her mother, she replied that she had not because she did not want to ruin her mother's relationship with yet another man. RP 332-335. However, Jonathan was successful in getting her to talk to her mother. RP 336-337. After this talk Melissa called the police to report her daughter's claims. RP

293-294. After reporting the incident to the police Melissa took her children and moved out of the defendant's home. RP 294-295. The police then began an investigation by interviewing JM, her mother and siblings, Jonathan, and JM's school friend with whom she had confided. RP 353-354.

Eventually the detective in charge of the investigation called the defendant and asked if he would come to the police station for an interview. RP 354-356. The defendant agreed. *Id.* The interview lasted about one hour and was recorded on videotape with the defendant's consent. *Id.* While the defendant admitted that he had shown JM how to perform a breast examination on herself, he denied touching anything other than the side of her breasts, and he repeatedly denied that he had any sexual intent. RP 362-418. He also admitted that he had given JM back rubs but denied that he had ever intentionally touched her buttocks while doing so. RP 371, 375. Finally, he denied ever pulling out JM's clothing to look at her. RP 373.

Procedural History

By information filed May 15, 2013, the Cowlitz County Prosecutor charged the defendant George Thomas Strange with one count of Second Degree Child Molestation (DV) between April 29, 2011, and February 20, 2013, and one count of Voyeurism (DV) between those same dates. CP 1-2. Five months after the filing of the information the case was called for trial before a jury. RP 4. After a few preliminary motions, the court called in a

56 member jury venire and put them under oath. RP 18-19. The court then began the voir dire process by asking the venire members a number of general questions, including the following:

I'm – I'm interested in knowing if any of you have any personal experience with a similar type of case or incident. This is an allegation of child molestation and also voyeurism. So, I'm just curious if any of you have any personal experience with that, either as somebody who has been victimized, somebody who has been a witness to that or somebody who has been accused of that or if you have family members who have experienced – experienced that or have been a witness to that or if they – if they have been accused. So, – okay. We've got a few hands. And, again here, I'll – I'll give that disclaimer that if anybody is interested in sharing that information in a more private setting that's an option that we can make available to you and just let us know.

RP 27-29.

At this point 17 venire members, almost a third of the entire group, related, in front of the whole panel, how they either could not or probably could not be fair given the charges against the defendant and their experiences involving child molestation. RP 20-72. The following lists those juror's and summarizes their comments before the other venire members.

- 1. <u>Heath</u>: father was convicted of molesting a family member, RP 29-30;
- 2. <u>Tolan</u>: ex-husband convicted of molesting a neighbor girl who was visiting their daughter, RP 30-31:
- 3. <u>Holt</u>: uncle and husband's cousin both convicted of child molestation, RP 32;

- 4. <u>Donaldson</u>: neighbor convicted of similar crimes, RP 33;
- 5. <u>Green</u>: "My ex-son-in-law was charged with molesting my granddaughter . . . there was a resolution . . . it resulted in a slap on the hand . . . a couple of months ago." RP 33-34;
- 6. <u>Van Sant</u>: granddaughter was molested four years ago and "he was let go" becuase there was "not enough investigation." RP 35-36;
- 7. <u>Parkhurst</u>: brother-in-law, ex-husband's cousin and numerous neighbors convicted of similar crimes, RP 36-37;
- 8. Ostrander: "we have had a family member who has had experience with this" will only elaborate in private, CP 37-38:
 - 9. Erickson: his wife was molested as a child, CP 38;
- 10. <u>Searing</u>: served on a jury and convicted a person of similar charges but the conviction was reversed on appeal, CP 39;
- 11. <u>Perkins</u>: "I've known multiple victims, some close, in my lifetime," CP 39-40;
- 12. <u>Kunz</u>: "I'm having a really hard time being here because of personal history and family history," (Juror begins to cry), CP 40;
- 13. <u>Riley</u>: adopted sibling molested and it caused "a pretty significant impact;" he is an elementary school principal and sees the results of molestation on the victims, CP 40-41;
- 14. <u>Peroni</u>: "My son was a victim . . and I really am not going to be able to listen to the evidence . . I'm not going to be able to listen to it." CP 41-42;
- 15. <u>Gragg</u>: couple of very close friends molested and the perpetrator was not punished, RP 42-43;
- 16. <u>Rushmer</u>: mentors a girl at church who is a victim of molestation. Charges are pending and she wants to help the girl in court, RP 43-44:

17. <u>Bolles</u>: "my niece and my daughter were both sexually molested by an adult" and the perpetrator got off "Scot free" and now his daughter has to "live with the consequences." CP 71.

The majority of these venire members stated that they either could not be fair or probably could not be fair. RP 29-71. One of these venire members then stated the following to the court in front of the entire venire;

JUDGE EVANS: Okay. Mr. Gragg?

JUROR: Um – what I said before, like, I know people that I know. Like it's not an easy accusation to make. Like, it is hard for people (inaudible). It's like if accusations were made there's something behind that.

JUDGE EVANS: Okay. So, let me ask you this, Mr. Gragg, I mentioned this earlier that – we talked about the presumption of innocence. That a person that's charged with a crime is – is presumed innocent and that presumption continues throughout the entire trial. Is that something that you think you could use and implement that – that presumption of innocence throughout the entire trial starting now going forward?

JUROR: I don't – like, I don't have a ton of experience but it has just been my experience people don't make that accusation, you know, for no reason. Like, I feel like if an accusation was made there had to be something that had happened.

JUDGE EVANS: Okay. All right. Thank you.

RP 71-72.

At this point the court excused the venire from the court room and began individual examination of venire members who had requested it. RP 90-99. The court then called the venire back into the courtroom and allowed the state to question the panel. RP 100-128. During this questioning a

number of statements were made in front of the entire panel similar to the statements during the general questioning by the court. *Id.* These statements included: (1) "I'm not going to be able to listen to this," (2) "It's going to bring back memories of what happened to my son," (3) "it did happen," (4) "I can't hear any of this," (5) "it's not something I want to hear about," (6) "hard time hearing these charges," and (6) "I have to deal with the consequences of it." RP 100-127.

Once the jury was selected and sworn, the state presented its case by calling eight witnesses, including JM, her brother, her mother, her friend, Jonathan Layman and Cowlitz County Sheriff's Detective Todd McDaniel, who had investigated the case. CP 218, 264, 274, 314, 321, 327, 339, 349. These witnesses testified to the facts contained in the preceding factual history. See Factual History. During the state's case-in-chief the court allowed the state to play the entire one hour long video recording of Detective McDaniel's interrogation of the defendant without objection from the defense and without request for redaction. RP 362-418.

During Detective McDaniel's interrogation of the defendant he repeated the allegations JM had made against the defendant, including a claim that JM "said that you would reach under and you know, touch her rear

²At this point the court asked if the venire member was having problems hearing. The Bailiff then explained that she was refusing to listen.

end and she would roll over." RP 371. The defendant denied this allegation and all other allegations of inappropriate conduct. RP 362-418. Although the defendant admitted teaching JM how to perform a breast examination at her request, he denied any sexual motivation. *Id.* At the end of the interrogation Detective McDaniel repeatedly stated that he could arrest the defendant, that he did not believe the defendant's protestations of innocence, that the defendant was not being truthful with him, that the defendant took advantage of JM while her mother was gone, and that no jury would ever believe his story. RP 397-418. The detective also stated: (1) "So, we know better than that and you're, you're trying to feed me a line of baloney." and (2) "So I think you're giving out certain details just to make your story better." RP 398-399. The defense did not object to the admission of any of this evidence. *Id*.

Following the close of the state's case the defense rested without putting on any witnesses. RP 429. The court then instructed the jury without objection from either party. RP 429, 430-448. The court did not give an instruction under *State v. Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d 566, 573, 683 P.2d 173 (1984). RP 430-448; CP 18-41. Neither did either party request such an instruction. *Id.* The jury then listened to closing arguments and retired for deliberation, eventually returning verdicts of "guilty" on both counts. RP 448-480, 485-489; CP 42-44. About five weeks after the verdicts the court imposed

sentences within the standard ranges, after which the defendant filed timely notice of appeal. CP 46-60, 64.

ARGUMENT

I. THE STATEMENTS OF 18 PROSPECTIVE JURORS IN FRONT OF THE ENTIRE VENIRE OUTLINING THEIR PERSONAL EXPERIENCES AS THE VICTIMS OR THE FAMILY MEMBERS OF THE VICTIMS OF CHILD MOLESTATION TAINTED THE REMAINDER OF THE VENIRE SUFFICIENTLY TO DENY THE DEFENDANT A FAIR AND IMPARTIAL JURY.

Under Washington Constitution, Article 1, § 21, and under United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment, every person charged with a crime has the right to a fair trial in front of an impartial jury of 12 persons who must reach a unanimous verdict before a conviction can be entered. *State v. Seagull*, 124 Wn.2d 719, 881 P.2d 979 (1994); *Smith v. Phillips*, 455 U.S. 209, 71 L.Ed.2d 78, 102 S.Ct. 940 (1982). "Even if 'only one juror is unduly biased or prejudiced,' the defendant is denied his constitutional right to an impartial jury." *United States v. Eubanks*, 591 F.2d 513, 517 (9th Cir.1979); *see also United States v. Allsup*, 566 F.2d 68, 71 (9th Cir.1977). Due process requires that the defendant be tried by a jury capable and willing to decide the case solely on the evidence before it. *Smith v. Phillips*, *supra*.

For example in *Mach v. Stewart*, 137 F.3d 630 (9th Cir. 1997), a defendant convicted of child molestation brought a *habeas corpus* proceeding in federal court arguing that he had been denied a fair and impartial jury when the trial court denied a motion for a mistrial after one potential juror named Bodkin made statements during *voir dire* that tainted the entire jury venire.

Specifically, this potential jury member stated that (a) she had taken child psychology courses and worked with psychologists and psychiatrists as a social worker and (b) that she had never been involved in a case in which a child accused an adult of sexual abuse where that child's statements had not been borne out. Although the court admonished all the potential jurors that they would be limited to considering only the evidence presented at trial, it allowed the potential jury to again state that she had never known a child to lie about sexual abuse. Following dismissal of the defendant's petition before a Federal District Court he sought review before the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals.

In addressing the defendant's arguments the Court of Appeals first noted that the potential juror's statements were not merely general claims about personal bias or prejudice. Rather they were factual claims made as if the potential juror were a pseudo-expert on the subject. Second, they were statements that directly commented on the credibility of the state's complaining witness. Under these circumstances the court found that the trial court's refusal to grant the defendant's motion for a mistrial denied the defendant his right to a fair and impartial jury. The court held:

At a minimum, when Mach moved for a mistrial, the court should have conducted further voir dire to determine whether the panel had in fact been infected by Bodkin's expert-like statements. Given the nature of Bodkin's statements, the certainty with which they were delivered, the years of experience that led to them, and the

number of times that they were repeated, we presume that at least one juror was tainted and entered into jury deliberations with the conviction that children simply never lie about being sexually abused. This bias violated Mach's right to an impartial jury.³

³Furthermore, Mach's inability to confront and cross-examine Bodkin implicates the Sixth Amendment's Confrontation Clause. *Jeffries v. Wood*, 114 F.3d 1484, 1490 (9th Cir.1997), cert. denied, 522 U.S. 1008, 118 S.Ct. 586, 139 L.Ed.2d 423 (1997) ("When a juror communicates objective extrinsic facts regarding the defendant or the alleged crimes to other jurors, the juror becomes an unsworn witness within the meaning of the Confrontation Clause.").

Mach v. Stewart, 137 F.3d at 633.

The court then went on to discuss whether the error was structural and required automatic reversal or whether it was subject to a harmless error analysis. Ultimately the court declined to address the issue because the court ruled that the defendant was entitled to relief under either standard. The court's holding on this issue also illustrated why the potential juror's statements had been so damaging. The court explained as follows on this issue:

Nonetheless, because this error requires reversal under the harmless-error standard as well, we need not decide whether it constitutes structural error. Under the harmless-error standard, we must determine whether the error had "substantial and injurious effect or influence in determining the jury's verdict." Highly significant is the nature of the information and its connection to the case. See Lawson v. Borg, 60 F.3d 608, 612-613 (9th Cir.1995) (noting that "reversible error commonly occurs where there is a direct and rational connection between the extrinsic material and a prejudicial jury conclusion, and where the misconduct relates directly to a material aspect of the case"); Dickson v. Sullivan, 849 F.2d 403, 407 (9th Cir.1988) (finding prejudice when extrinsic information was "both

directly related to a material issue in the case and highly inflammatory"). The result of the trial in this case was principally dependant on whether the jury chose to believe the child or the defendant. There can be no doubt that Bodkin's statements had to have a tremendous impact on the jury's verdict. The extrinsic evidence was highly inflammatory and directly connected to Mach's guilt. Bodkin repeatedly stated that in her experience as a social worker, children never lied about sexual assault. The bulk of the prosecution's case consisted of a child's testimony that Mach had sexually assaulted her. We thus find Bodkin's statements to have substantially affected or influenced the verdict and therefore reverse the conviction

Mach v. Stewart, 137 F.3d at 634 (some citations omitted; footnote omitted).

A number of similarities exist between the facts from *Mach* and the facts from the case at bar. First, in *Mach* the prospective juror directly commented on the credibility of the state's complaining witness, essentially telling the jury that in the opinion of prospective juror the complaining witness would be telling the truth. Similarly, in the case at bar, one of the prospective jurors commented directly on the credibility of complaining witnesses in the following exchange:

JUDGE EVANS: Okay, Mr. Gragg?

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