NO. 45607-9-II

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON,**

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

GEORGE THOMAS STRANGE,

Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**AMIE MATUSKO
W.S.B.A # 31375
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for
Respondent**

**Hall of Justice
312 SW First
Kelso, WA 98626
(360) 577-3080**

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

In the present case, the defendant does not point to any specific juror who was tainted by the process. He argues because a juror who indicated he did not have a lot of experience, but had an opinion that accusations are not easy to make and felt there had to be something that happened, the panel

was tainted. Under the cases cited above, this is insufficient to prove any taint of the entire panel.

The facts in the present case are much different from a social worker, with the experience and expertise of someone in a position to know, vouching for victim's credibility. No juror who indicated any familiarity with victims or accusations was seated on the panel. Moreover, they were instructed the evidence had to come from the witness stand. CP 19-21.

B. THE DEFENDANT FAILS TO PROVE INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL AS THE EVIDENCE OF THE DETECTIVE CONFRONTING THE DEFENDANT WITH HIS STORY WAS ADMISSIBLE.

The Defendant argues defense counsel's failure to object to the video-taped interview of the defendant was ineffective as the officer gave his opinion of the defendant's credibility.

i. Standard of Review.

Both the Federal and Washington State Constitutions provide the right to assistance of counsel. *See State v. Jury*, 19 Wn.App. 256, 262, 576 P.2d 1302, 1306 (1978); *see also* U.S. CONST. AMEND. VI, WASH. CONST. ART. 1, § 22. "[T]he substance of this guarantee is that courts must make 'effective' appointments of counsel." *Jury*, 19 Wn.App. at 262, 576 P.2d at 1306 quoting *Powell v. Alabama*, 287 U.S. 45, 53 S.Ct. 55, 77 L.Ed. 158 (1932). The test for determining effective counsel is whether: "[a]fter considering the entire record, can it be said that the accused was afforded an effective representation and a fair and impartial trial?" *Id.* citing *State v. Myers*, 86 Wn.2d 419, 424, 545 P.2d 538 (1976). Moreover, "[t]his test

places a weighty burden on the defendant to prove two things: first, considering the entire record, that he was denied effective representation, and second, that he was prejudiced thereby.” *Id.* at 263, 576 P.2d at 1307. The first prong of this two-part test requires the defendant to show “that his . . . lawyer failed to exercise the customary skills and diligence that a reasonably competent attorney would exercise under similar circumstances.” *State v. Visitacion*, 55 Wn.App. 166, 173, 776 P.2d 986, 990 (1989) citing *State v. Sardinia*, 42 Wn.App. 533, 539, 713 P.2d 122 (1986). The second prong requires the defendant to show “that there is a reasonable probability that, but for the counsel’s errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different.” *Id.* citing *State v. Sardinia*, 42 Wn.App. 533, 539, 713 P.2d 122 (1986).

To establish ineffective assistance for failure to object, Strange must show (1) an absence of legitimate strategic or tactical reasons supporting the challenged conduct; (2) that an objection to the evidence would likely have been sustained; and (3) that the result of the trial would have been different had the evidence not been admitted. *State v. Saunders*, 91 Wn.App. 575, 578, 958 P.2d 364 (1998), citing *State v. McFarland*, 127 Wn.2d 322, 336 and 337 n. 4, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995), and *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 80, 917 P.2d 563 (1996).

ii. Counsel's failure to object was a trial tactic.

“In considering claims of ineffective assistance of counsel, the courts have declined to find constitutional violations when the actions of counsel complained of go to the theory of the case or to trial tactics.” *State v. Ermert*, 94 Wn.2d 839, 849, 621 P.2d 121, 126 (1980). Differences of opinion regarding trial strategy or tactics are not sufficient to prove a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel. *State v. Lord*, 117 Wn.2d 829, 883, 822 P.2d 177 (1991). “The decision of when or whether to object is a classic example of trial tactics.” *State v. Madison*, 53 Wn.App. 754, 763, 770 P.2d 662 (Div 1, 1989). This court presumes that the failure to object was the product of legitimate trial strategy or tactics, and the onus is on the defendant to rebut this presumption. *In Re Pers. Restraint of Davis*, 152 Wn.2d 647, 714, 101 P.3d 1 (2004) (quoting *State v. McNeal*, 145 Wn.2d 352, 362, 37 P.3d 280 (2002)).

In the present case it is a legitimate trial tactic for defense counsel to allow the entire video and confrontation by the officer to go to the jury. In the present case, Strange did not testify. In essence the interview by Detective McDaniel was the Defendant's best evidence of his defense. The Detective put every reasonable question to the Defendant, confronted him in every way possible, and the Defendant maintained his innocence, even in light of expressions of disbelief. The jury was able to see and view the body language, demeanor and expressions of the Defendant in an uninterrupted fashion. Had defense counsel objected to portions of the interview, it would

have taken away this evidence from the jury. The State would be forced to either cut up the video or more likely present a synopsis of the interview through the eyes of the detective. As such, the jury was not only able to hear the defendant's statements, but able to put them in context with all the information seeing a person can bring to bear on their credibility. This evidence clearly support the defendant's theory at trial and is a legitimate trial tactic.

iii. The defendant fails to show an objection would be sustained as the officer's comments did not amount to inadmissible opinion evidence.

The Defendant cannot meet his second burden to prove an objection to the evidence would likely have been sustained as the evidence was not improper opinion evidence.

In general, no witness is allowed to offer opinion evidence regarding guilt or veracity of the defendant, as it may invade the exclusive province of the jury. *State v. Demery*, 144 Wn.2d 753, 759, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001). The Defendant argues when Detective McDaniel said to the defendant in his hour long interview that he did not believe the story, and was giving only half-truths, this was inadmissible opinion evidence. Def. Brf. at 23.

To determine whether statements are impermissible opinion testimony a court considers the circumstances of the case, including the following factors:

- (1) “the type of witness involved,
- (2) the specific nature of the testimony,
- (3) [t]he nature of the charges,
- (4) [t]he type of defense, and
- (5) [t]he other evidence before the trier or fact.”

Id. (citing *Seattle v. Heatley*, 70 Wn.App. 573, 577, 854 P.2d 658 (1993)).

Only if the court determines the evidence violated the defendant’s constitutional right to a jury trial is the admission error. *Id.* Additionally, even if the court finds the admission is error, the error is not automatically prejudicial. *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d 918, 935, 155 P.3d 125 (2007). A defendant must still show the error would have changed the result. *State v. Smith*, 72 Wa.2d 479, 484, 434 P.2d 5 (1968), *see*, *State v. Kirkman*, 159 Wn.2d at 935.

In *State v. Demery*, the State played a taped interview for the jury between the police officers and the defendant. *Id.* at 756-57. During the interview, the officers made statements suggesting the defendant was lying. *Id.* at 756. The defendant appealed, arguing the statements were opinion testimony commenting on the defendant’s veracity. *Id.* at 758.

After citing to the five factors above, the Supreme Court noted the officers’ statements were not offered during live testimony at trial, but were on a tape and a part of a commonly used police interview technique designed

to see whether a defendant will change their story during the course of an interrogation. *Id.* 760. The Court found that [b]ecause the officers' statements were not made under oath at trial, ...they [did] not fall within the definition of opinion testimony." *Id.* The court expanded on this idea in a footnote saying a statement made out of court is inherently less reliable than a sworn statement, because at the time the statement is made the declarant is not subject to the safeguards of trial. *Id.* The Court also stated that out of court statements are considered differently than sworn testimony and jurors consider them less reliable. *Id.* The court found a jury will not give an "officer's statements in a pretrial interview any more weight than the fact the prosecutor chose to bring charges." *Id.* at 763 citing *Dubria v. Smith*, 224 F.3d 995, 1002 (9th Cir. 2000). Additionally, these statements are not the type that "carry any special aura of reliability." *Id.* The court affirmed their opinion was consistent with other cases, strengthening the court's stance to expressly decline an expansive view of opinion testimony. *Id.*

In addition to the nature of the testimony, the Supreme Court looked at the way in which the statements were offered in *Demery*. The Court agreed with the trial court that the statements were admitted solely to provide context for the responses offered by the defendant. *Id.* 761. The trial court found the defendant made relevant voluntary responses to the officers, and found the officers' statements were non-hearsay and necessary to provide context to the defendant's responses. *Id.* The Supreme Court did note the trial court should have given a limiting instruction to the jury explaining that only the

defendant's responses and not the officer's statements should be considered as evidence. *Id.* However, said the instruction was unnecessary in *Demery* because the jury was able to easily deduce the context. *Id.*

In considering the five factors under *Demery*, Detective McDaniel's was a police officer, but his testimony was not the type a jury would give a particular aura of reliability as demonstrated by *Demery*. *Id.* at 760. Moreover, the Defendant's statements were not a confession to the charges, but rather an argument over sexual gratification, and the other evidence at trial, particularly the Defendant's grooming behavior and voyeurism, was overwhelming to any statements Detective McDaniel made during the interview.

Additionally like *Demery*, the State offered McDaniel's testimony to showcase the Defendant's responses. Just like *Demery*, the Defendant's statements were made knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily and after Miranda warnings. RP 356, 361-362. Each of Detective McDaniel's statements to Strange are linked in with a piece of evidence. For instance, McDaniel confronts Strange that Jane would be able to know whether the touching was on her bare breasts or over clothing. PR 410. There is isn't any history for her to make it up to get him in trouble. RP 410-411. Because Strange maintains it was over the clothing, but in looking back he should have done it a bit differently, McDaniel confronts Strange by saying that Strange can't name one reasonable person standard that would give their fourteen-year-old daughter a breast exam. RP 411-412, 415. He tells

Strange that a jury will not believe it was a medical reason because he didn't do it when Melissa was there or let Alex know what he was doing and told her not to say anything. RP 416-417. McDaniel tells Strange if there is another reason, now is the time to say it. RP 417. McDaniel reiterates the reason his explanation has holes is based upon Strange's own admissions: 1) Strange isn't saying Jane is liar, 2) most women are not getting a breast exam from a doctor over their clothing, and 3) they are in bed. RP 418.

In each instance where McDaniel gives a statement of belief, McDaniel backs the belief with a reason he tells to Strange. The jury could easily conclude McDaniel's testimony was offered to provide context to the responses. Moreover, after the interview was played to the jury, McDaniel explained when he told Strange he didn't believe him this was an interview tactic he was trained to use to get Strange to open up and tell his story. RP 424. Additionally, it is a tactic he uses to start an interview as non-confrontational, but then switch to a more confrontational fashion at the end. RP 427. He also testified that after the interview with Strange he did additional investigation about the things Strange told him in the interview. RP 427-428. All of these things combined, would not lead the jury to conclude McDaniel was substituting his opinion as to credibility over theirs. The court also instructed the jury they were the sole judges of credibility. CP 20.

As such the testimony was not inadmissible opinion testimony and counsel was not ineffective for failing to object.

iv. If there was error, the defendant does prove the result of the trial would have been different.

Lastly, the defendant cannot show the result of the trial would have been different if this evidence were excluded. The State case was a strong one. The State presented evidence the Defendant was grooming Jane Doe. He kissed her on the mouth when her mother was not present. Gave her back massages, suggested inappropriate underwear, hugged her, and was overall very touchy. He admitted the conduct of touching her breasts to give a breast exam, and told her not to tell her mother. Moreover, he said this conduct could be misconstrued, said he would have not done it differently, and wished the victim has stopped him. This case was not a question so much of what happened, but was there sexual motivation. The context of the events plus the other behavior, even if the act was above the shirt, would leave a jury to believe there was sexual motivation and the defendant was guilty.

C. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY AND A PETRICH INSTRUCTION WAS NOT REQUIRED AS THERE WAS ONLY ONE EVENT OF TOUCHING FOR THE PURPOSES OF SEXUAL MOTIVATION.

The Defendant argues the trial court violated the Sixth Amendment right to a unanimous jury when it failed to give a Petrich instruction. Def. Brf at 25. However, the defendant received a constitutionally fair trial as the State did not present multiple acts evidence to support the charge.

The Defendant correctly cites the law regarding multiple act evidence. “When the State presents evidence of several acts that could form the basis of one count charged, either the State must tell the jury which act to rely on in its deliberations or the court must instruct the jury to agree on a specific criminal act.” *State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 409, 756 P.2d 105 (1988). If this does not happen there is error. *Id.* The error is subject to harmless error analysis. *Id.* An error is not harmless if a rational trier of fact could have a reasonable doubt as to whether each incident established the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 411. This approach presumes the error is prejudicial and allows for the presumption to be overcome only if no rational juror could have a reasonable doubt as to any one of the incidents alleged. *Id.*

The Defendant argues the State presented multiple act evidence when it elicited testimony from the victim the defendant rubbed her back and touched her butt once. Def. Brf. 27-28. Moreover, Defendant argues when Detective McDaniel told Strange Jane said he touched her butt, this was proof of this evidence. Def. Brf. 28.

The Defendant is inaccurate to conclude the State presented multiple act evidence. The evidence the Defendant touched Jane’s butt was never presented to the jury as other act evidence of molestation. The State did elicit the testimony of Jane that during a back rub, the defendant touched her butt. This was not evidence of another act of molestation though, it was

evidence of sexual gratification and lustful disposition.³ This evidence was never argued to the jury it was the basis of the Molestation charge. Additionally, the information presented by McDaniel to Strange in the interview was never corroborated by the victim on the stand. In fact it was denied by the victim. RP 238.

Additionally, in every part of the State's closing argument, it presented the breast exam evidence as supporting the charge of Child Molestation. The State never argued the evidence about Defendant touching Jane's butt. Given the State's argument of the breast exam evidence, the State did elect the evidence of the charge of Molestation as required under *Kitchen*.

Should the court believe this was a multiple act evidence case wherein the State did not elect, the error was harmless. In *State v. Camarillo*, 115 Wn.2d 60, 72, 794 P.2d 850 (1990), the Court found when the child testified with specificity about the details of the defendant's action and there was no conflicting testimony to place a reasonable doubt in the mind of a jury that the events did not happen as described, the error was harmless.

³Evidence of a defendant's prior sexual acts against the same victim is admissible to show the defendant's lustful disposition toward that victim. *State v. Ray*, 116 Wash.2d 531, 547, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991). When considering lustful disposition, it is important that the prior conduct reveals a sexual desire for that particular victim. See *State v. Ferguson*, 100 Wash.2d 131, 134, 667 P.2d 68 (1983) (quoting *State v. Thorne*, 43 Wash.2d 47, 60-61, 260 P.2d 331 (1953)).